
.........

ELCHC Board of Directors Retreat
Agenda

November 1, 2025 at 9:00 am
Hillsborough Community College - Ybor City Campus

Ybor Student Services Building(YSSB)

1320 E. Palm Ave, Tampa FL; 33605 3rd floor Rooms 307-308



I. CALL TO ORDER A. Patel

III. WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS, AND ICEBREAKER-
"THEN & NOW: EARLY LEARNING MEMORIES"

A. Patel/F.
Hicks

A. Key Concern #1: 2026 Summit – Business Partnerships & Follow-Up

IV. KEY CONCERNS F. Hicks/Bob
Hyde

V. DISCUSSION ELCHC Board
Members

A. CEO Merit Increase - 3

VI. ACTION ITEMS A. Patel

A. Roll Call

II. PUBLIC COMMENT I A. Patel

A. Annual Board of Directors Picture

B. Key Concern #2: 2026 Summit Monetary Ask – Helping Parents Cover
the Cost of Full-Day VPK

A. Strategies and Action Items for 2026 Business Engagement and
Advocacy Efforts

B. Approval of Draft Board of Directors Meeting Minutes October 13,
2025 - 9

VII. CLOSING REFLECTIONS AND NEXT STEPS A. Patel

VIII. ADJOURNMENT A. Patel

ELCHC Board of Directors Retreat Agenda Packet
November 1, 2025

Page 2 of 14 



ELCHC BOARD OF DIRECTORS RETREAT-NOVEMBER 1, 2025 

ISSUE: 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

FUNDING SOURCE: 

RECOMMENDED ACTION (1): 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Performance Evaluation Process and 

Merit Increase Consideration 

$225,700, annual 

School Readiness and Voluntary Prekindergarten 

The Executive Committee recommends that the full board 

approves a merit increase for Dr. Hicks, CEO, for the 2025 

employment anniversary, effective November 14, 2025, with 

an annual salary of $225,700, the maximum allowed by state law. 

NARRATIVE: 

Dr. Fred Hicks, Early Learning Coalition of Hillsborough County CEO, would be eligible for a merit 

increase in recognition of his 2025 employment anniversary. In compliance with Rule 6M-9.120, Board 

members submitted the required Division of Early Learning (DEL) Annual Performance Evaluation form 

(DEL-SR 120) and submitted it to DEL by the due date, August 30, 2025. Dr. Hick's received an average 

evaluation score of 2.83 out of a possible 3.00. The Executive Committee recommends that the full 

board approve a merit increase for Dr. Hicks, for the 2025 employment anniversary, effective 

November 14, 2025, with an annual salary of $225,700, the maximum allowed by state law. 

The Performance Evaluation for Merit Consideration Memorandum is attached. 

(1 attachment) 

ACTION ITEM VI.A. 

Page 3 of 14 



6302 E Dr Martin Luther King Jr Blvd Suite 100 Tampa Florida 33619 

Memorandum 

To: Members of the Board of Directors 

From: Dr. Frederick L. Hicks 

RE: Performance Evaluation for Merit Consideration 

Date: November 1, 2025 

++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ 

Brief History 

Under Rule 6M-9.120, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or Executive Director Evaluation process is prescribed. The 

Early Learning Coalition Board Chair or other delegated member(s) shall annually complete the Chief Executive 

Officer/Executive Director Annual Performance Evaluation, Form DEL-SR 120, August 2025, for the ELC’s CEO or 

executive director. The evaluation must be completed and submitted to DEL by August 30 of each year. This August 

the required evaluation was submitted on time to DEL. 

Dr. Fred Hicks, CEO of the ELC of Hillsborough County, began employment at the ELCHC on November 14, 2022. 

The Merit Consideration for 2025’s Employment Anniversary would be retroactively paid if approved. 

The 2025 DEL Form DEL-SR 120 average score of 2.83 out of a possible 3.00 would typically translate to the Board’s 

consideration of a merit raise of 1.71% to an annual salary of $225,700. This is the annual salary maximum capped 

by the State for a Level II CEO for 2025. 

Performance Dimensions Section 

Rate the five Performance Dimensions (pages 2-4) on known or observed behaviors of the Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO) during this review period. Please base your ratings on observations or interactions and identify strengths and 

areas for improvement. 

Use this rating scale to select a rating for each of the 5 Performance Objectives. Include narrative comments to 

explain/support your ratings and any aspects of the CEO’s performance. This will help to provide better 

understanding and feedback. 

Page 4 of 14 



6302 E Dr Martin Luther King Jr Blvd Suite 100 Tampa Florida 33619 

Rating Scale Definitions for Performance Dimensions 

The ratings are based on a scale of 1 to 3. 

3 Exceeds Expectations: The CEO’s level of performance on this performance dimension exceeded 

expectations. Performance exceeded expectations in essential areas of responsibility. Goals or projects 

were achieved to support this performance within this dimension. 

2 Meets Expectations: The CEO’s level of performance on this performance dimension met expectations. 

Performance met expectations to an acceptable extent on the essential areas of responsibility. Goals or 

projects were achieved to support this performance within this dimension. 

1 Unsatisfactory: The CEO’s level of performance fell significantly below the expectations for this 

performance dimension without any acceptable reason or justification. Performance failed to meet 

expectations on more than one essential area of responsibility, and less than acceptable progress was made 

toward achieving this dimension. Significant improvement is required. 

N/O Not Observed: This rating option is available for use when there is not sufficient information 

to evaluate the level of performance. 

Strategic Objectives Section 

Overall Process 

Board Member responses for the Performance Dimensions section will be tallied and averaged. This information 

will be used by the Executive Committee to provide the CEO with performance feedback and to make compensation 

decisions. The decision on CEO compensation will necessarily involve not only performance, but budgetary and 

salary cap considerations. However, in general, the general guidelines will be used in providing feedback and 

determining compensation will be as shown below. 

Merit Consideration Ranges 

Score: 2.7-3.0 Exceptional Merit Increase Range  3-5% 

Score: 2.4-2.69 Commendable Merit Increase Range    2.5-3.5% 

Score: 2.0-2.39 Meets Expectations Merit Increase Range  0-2.5% 

Score: 1.0-1.99 Below Expectations Merit Increase Range  0% PIP* 

*Performance Improvement Plan

Note: The applicable CEO salary cap for 2025 is $225,700

Page 5 of 14 



6302 E Dr Martin Luther King Jr Blvd Suite 100 Tampa Florida 33619 

Early Learning Coalition of Hillsborough County (ELCHC) 

Chief Executive Officer 

Performance Appraisal Form 

for Board Members 

Date Filled Out 

Performance Review Period 

CEO’s Name Dr. Frederick Hicks 

ELCHC BOD Member Name 

1. Leadership 

Definition: The CEO’s ability to inspire, motivate, and guide individuals and teams towards achieving organizational 

goals. This includes demonstrating integrity, fostering a positive culture, and effectively communicating the vision 

and mission of the ELC of Hillsborough County with stakeholders, childcare providers, elected officials, and other 

stakeholders. 

• Question: How effectively does the CEO demonstrate leadership in guiding the organization towards its

goals? (Select one)

o 1: Unsatisfactory

o 2: Meets Expectations

o 3: Exceeds Expectations

o Not Observed

Additional Comment: 

2. Strategic Planning 

Definition: The CEO’s capability to develop, communicate, and implement long-term strategies that align with 

ELCHC’s mission and vision. This involves setting clear objectives, anticipating future challenges, and adapting to 

changing environments. 

• Question: How effectively does the CEO develop and implement strategic plans that drive the organization

forward? (Select one)

o 1: Unsatisfactory

Page 6 of 14 



6302 E Dr Martin Luther King Jr Blvd Suite 100 Tampa Florida 33619 

o 2: Meets Expectations

o 3: Exceeds Expectations

o Not Observed

• Additional Comment:

3. Board of Director Relations 

Definition: The CEO’s ability to maintain productive and transparent relationships with the board of directors. This 

includes ensuring effective governance, facilitating informed decision-making, and keeping the board well-informed 

about organizational performance and strategic issues. 

• Question: How effectively does the CEO engage with the board of directors to ensure effective governance

and decision-making? (Select one)

o 1: Unsatisfactory

o 2: Meets Expectations

o 3: Exceeds Expectations

o Not Observed

• Additional Comment:

4. Financial Management 

Definition: The CEO’s proficiency in managing the organization’s financial resources. This encompasses budgeting, 

financial planning, risk management, and ensuring the financial sustainability and growth of the ELC. 

• Question: How effectively does the CEO manage the organization’s financial resources to ensure

sustainability and growth? (Select one)

o 1: Unsatisfactory

o 2: Meets Expectations

o 3: Exceeds Expectations

Page 7 of 14 



6302 E Dr Martin Luther King Jr Blvd Suite 100 Tampa Florida 33619 

o Not Observed

• Additional Comment:

5. Operational Efficiency 

Definition: The CEO’s ability to optimize organizational processes and resources to achieve maximum efficiency 

and effectiveness. This includes streamlining operations, improving productivity, and ensuring that the ELC operates 

smoothly and efficiently. 

• Question: How effectively does the CEO optimize organizational processes and resources to achieve

maximum efficiency and effectiveness? (Select one)

o 1: Unsatisfactory

o 2: Meets Expectations

o 3: Exceeds Expectations

o Not Observed

• Additional Comment:

Page 8 of 14 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MEETING UNAPPROVED MINUTES

DR
AF
T

Monday, October 13, 2025, at 3:00 pm
6302 E. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd., Suite 100

Tampa, FL 33619

MEETING ATTENDANCE
Facilitator: Aakash Patel, Chair

Board Members Present: 
Dr. Larissa Baia, Dr. Daira Barakat, Gino Casanova, Wynton Geary, Dr. Emily Shaffer Hudkins, 
Keidrian Kunkel, Commissioner Gwendolyn Myers, Beth Pasek, Aakash Patel, Noelle Wostal, Dr. 
Shawn Robinson, and Felicia Thomas

Board Members Absent: 
Rebecca Bacon, Tracye Brown, Cameron Cassedy, Annette Eberhart, Kelly Flannery, Jonathan Ferro, 
Adam Giery, Bob Hyde, Amanda Jae, Dr. Jacquelyn Jenkins, Brian Mays, Chantal Porte, and Alina 
Shaffer, 

ELCHC Staff:
Dr. Fred Hicks, Nancy Will, Gary Meyer, Abigial Perez, and Kelley Minney

Other Attendees:
Attorney Paul Quin, and Alex Ochoa

          CALL TO ORDER
Quorum Verification
Quorum was not established.

Chair Patel asked Dr. Emily Shaffer Hudkins introduce herself to the board of directors. Dr. Shaffer 
Hudkins, Child Developmental Physchologist at the University of South Florida shared part C laws for
special education is a passion of hers which helps families from birth to age three to receive the 
support needed. 

Chair Patel asked that all board members present introduce themselves to the newest Board 
Member Dr. Emily Shaffer Hudkins. 

Pledge of Allegiance
Chair Patel asked Gino Casanova to lead the Pledge of Allegiance.

PUBLIC COMMENT I
No, public comment I.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
Mission Moment
Chair Patel asked board members to share their impressions of the Children’s Summit held at the 
Motor Enclave on Thursday, September 18. 

Page 9 of 14 



There was board discussion on the event space being wonderful including the lunch selection, the 
speaker and all those who participated in the program of the Summit.

There was board discussion on a few improvements/recommendations for next year’s Children’s 
Summit including more guidance to find the location, and audio issues for tables set to the side of 
the stage. 

Dr. Robinson shared that a committee meeting would be held to discuss the opportunities and 
recognized the work of everyone involved in making the Summit a success for a third year in a row. 

Dr. Robinson, Chair of the Development & Outreach committee, shared an update with the board 
that the Summit raised $110,000 through sponsorships, ticket sales, and onsite donations, with net 
proceeds at $49,000, the remainder raised went to cover the cost of the event. Dr. Robinson shared 
that the distribution of the proceeds had yet to be finalized. Dr. Robinson shared there were 33 
sponsors, and the ELCHC is still waiting for 2 to contribute what was pledged. Dr. Robinson also 
shared that for sponsors that were unable to attend the video presentation of Dr. Dan Wuori would 
be sent out by Early Learning Coalition of Hillsborough County (ELCHC) staff. 

Chair Patel that he was interviewed by Bay News for a show called “In Focus,” which is a Sunday 
morning show, and he shared the success of the Children’s Summit and what the legislators can do 
to advocate more strongly for early education.

Chair Patel shared that part of being out in the community on public platforms and in social media 
speres is to share the mission and vision of the ELCHC with the hope to bring in partnerships from 
the community and awareness of the services provided. Chair Patel also shared with the board that 
the Tampa Bay Lighting season opener under new ownership occurred on Thursday, October 9, 
2025.  Chair Patel shared he was at the game with his clients, and the ELCHC was chosen to receive a
check for $50,000 from the Lighting Foundation, which is great news. 

Kelley Minney, Manager of Donor Relations, shared the ELCHC was to receive $35,000 with the 
remaining $15,000 going to the Hillsborough Education Foundation. 

Abigail Perez, Director of Impact and Community Relations, explained to the board of directors that 
the Community Hero chosen by the Lightning Foundation directs where the $50,000 goes to and that 
the ELCHC was chosen to receive $35,000, not the full $50,000 of the donation. 

Chair Patel shared that as the ELCHC Board of Directors there is fiduciary responsibility for the 
money that comes in, and any community outreach and the only other job of the board is to hire 
and fire the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Chair Patel shared that he attended the game with some 
clients who were watching the Community Hero presentation and was disappointed to not see Dr. 
Hicks at the game or in the video. 

Chair Patel asked Dr. Hicks to share his thoughts for the Children’s Summit before addressing the 
receiving of the funds through the Tampa Bay Lightning Foundation. 

Dr. Hicks shared that his vision from the start of his onboarding was to have a two-day Summit to 
include providers, teachers and families. 

Page 10 of 14 



Dr.  Hicks shared that it is important to continue to elevate the Summit as a means to bring in 
community business partners and to spread the need for and importance of early education. 

Dr. Hicks shared that dependency numbers from the families that visit the ELCHC is growing weekly 
and the reliance of the greater community on ELCHC services is extremely important.

Dr. Hicks shared that he was not made aware in advance of the content of the video that was 
projected at the Tampa Bay Lighting season opener. Dr. Hicks stated that the optics of the video 
made it seem as if the former CEO was the current CEO. Dr. Hicks shared that he has been receiving 
phone calls and texts asking if he was still CEO of ELCHC. Dr. Hicks stated the optics were confusing 
and moving forward a situation like this cannot happen again. 

Commissioner Myers shared that she was also in attendance at the Lighting season opener and was 
also shocked to see the video as presented. Commissioner Myers shared that this situation was an 
internal one and someone on ELCHC staff must have known as if the video looked to be done at 
Glazier Children's Museum. 

Dr. Hicks stated that the video was staged at the Glazier’s Children's Museum to include several 
children and the former CEO of the ELCHC. 

Commissioner Myers stated someone had to apply for the award and should made Dr. Hicks aware 
of the award and the process. 

Dr. Hicks stated that there needs to be an investigation to ensure that the ELCHC did not 
misrepresent themselves to the Lightning Foundation, which could negatively impact ELCHC. 

Chair Patel shared that six ELCHC staff were at the game next to the former CEO and that approval 
must have come from staff as Dr. Hicks was not made aware of the significance of the award and 
the date of the hockey game. 

Commissioner Myers shared that the staff that were responsible that had advance knowledge of the
Lightning game and accompanying video presentation to the former CEO at the Lightning Season 
opener should not continue to be employed at the ELCHC.  Commissioner Myers stated that there 
would be no tolerance of this type of action by ELCHC staff if this type of situation were to happen 
towards any member of the Board of County Commissioners (BOCC). 

Dr. Hicks shared that the outcome of the internal investigation would be shared at the next board 
meeting.

Dr. Shawn Robinson stated that the next scheduled meeting of the ELCHC Board of Directors is 
scheduled for February 2026. 

The board asked for a special meeting of the board of directors as soon as there was a conclusion of
the internal investigation.

Dr. Larissa Baia asked for clarification as to how much Dr. Hicks knew of the award.

Page 11 of 14 



Dr. Hicks explained that he signed off on a form regarding proceeds that would come from receiving
the award.

Dr. Baia asked for continued clarification by asking Dr. Hicks if he was made aware of the creation of
the video or if he was made aware of the ceremony that would accompany the award from the 
Lightning Foundation. 

Dr. Hicks stated he was not made aware of the creation of the video that was shown at the game nor
was he aware of the former CEO’s participation in the video.

Chair Patel asked that a process be put into place so that in the event moving forward Dr. Hicks is 
unavailable to receive an award there is designated representative. Chair Patel stated that the 
conversation today is why Dr. Hicks was not made aware of the game. 

Gino Casanova asked if Dr. Hicks was made aware of the date the award would be received.

Dr. Hicks stated he was not made aware. 

Chair Patel shared with the board that the nominated charities know a few days ahead of time at to 
which game to attend because the award would be given out however, no one knows the actual 
“Community Hero” is so that there is an element of surprise. Chair Patel stated that he knows the 
details of the process because he has been involved in the process previously. 

Beth Pasek asked if the former CEO and the name of the ELCHC were connected in the video. 

Chair Patel replied yes. 

Keidra Kunkel shared that in her organization there are two employees who share the duties of a 
Chief of Staff and perhaps this same structure could be used at ELCHC moving forward.

Gino Casanova asked for clarification about how the former CEO could accept the award on behalf 
of the ELCHC as if he was still currently the CEO. 

Chair Patel explained that the ELCHC staff nominated the former CEO. Chair Patel explained some of
the content of the narration of the video saying “the name and vision behind the ELCHC,” is the 
former CEO.” 

There was board discussion on the six ELCHC staff members that were at the game sitting with the 
former CEO and many board members interjecting to the degree of inappropriateness of their 
actions. 

Chair Patel asked that Dr. Hicks have the investigation completed as soon as possible.

Commissioner Myers asked that the investigation and the outcome for the ELCHC staff involved take
no more than 30 days. 

Page 12 of 14 



DR
AF
T

It was determined that Dr. Hicks should provide an update to board of directors on Friday, October 
17 that would include information from the Lighting Foundation. 
Dr. Hicks also shared that after Friday there would be information with an update call for the entire 
board of directors by means of a special meeting of the board. 

Paul Quin shared that the ELCHC was at the mercy of the people who would be providing the 
documentation.

Chair Patel stated that the investigation of the staff should come first.

Keidra Kunkel asked the board of directors to consider not having the in-person only option for 
board meetings. 

Chair Patel responded that this would be a discussion topic at the retreat on November 1st. 

CONSENT AGENDA
The following items were included under the Consent Agenda:
 Approval of the October 13, 2025, Board of Directors Meeting Agenda
 Approval of the August 18, 2025, Annual Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes

No vote could be taken to approve the Consent Agenda as quorum was not established. 

LEGAL REPORT
           
Paul Quin, ELCHC Board attorney, shared that 17 out of 25 board members filled out the evaluation. 
Mr. Quin shared that the ratings were on a scale  with a maximum of 3.0 with 2.82 as the average 
score. Mr. Quin stated that the evaluations would be forwarded to the state as the next step in the 
process.

ACTION ITEMS

No vote could be taken to approve the action item on the agenda as quorum was not established. 

DISCUSSION 
None.

Committee Reports

Dr. Robinson reported on the Development & Outreach Committee earlier in the meeting. 

Gino Casanova reported that the Legislative Committee had a virtual meeting scheduled for 
Thursday, October 16 at 3:00. 

CEO REPORT

Dr. Hicks reported the difficulties with Department of Children and Families (DCF) taking over 
classroom observations. Dr. Hicks shared that providers are facing challenges with more violations 
than usual. Dr. Hicks said he is attempting to get a meeting with DCF and providers. 

Page 13 of 14 



Retreat

Dr. Hicks stated that Bob Hyde would be asked to facilitate this year’s retreat. 

Waitlist

Dr. Hicks shared that due to financial shortfall this fiscal year a waitlist of 3,500 children has been 
created. Dr. Hicks reviewed the list of requirements for families to receive the services the ELCHC 
provides. 

Children’s Summit 2026

Dr. Hicks shared that his vision for next year’s Summit should include parents, providers, teachers 
and all those involved in education, the young learners in the community. 

Dr. Hicks shared that he would like to partner with community partners and ELCHC Board of 
Directors provide representatives to head this second day of the Children’s Summit.

Commissioner Myers suggested that this second day as described by Dr. Hicks should start at 9:00 
am on the Saturday after the traditional Children’s Summit. 

Felicia Thomas shared a similar event that her organization runs and provided some ideas to Dr. 
Hicks and the board. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS

None.

ANNOUCEMENTS

Day of Play is scheduled for December 6 from 10:00 am -12:00 noon at Jackson Springs Park & 
Community Center in Tampa.

The next ELCHC Board of Directors Regular meeting is scheduled for February 23, 2026, at 3:00 pm 
which has been changed from February 16, due to Children’s Week 2026.

PUBLIC COMMENT II

There was no Public Comment II. 

ADJOURNMENT
Citing the time, Dr. Shawn Robinson made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 4:15 pm. Gino 
Casanova made a second. The motion carried unanimously. 

Read and approved by: ______________________________________   ___________________________

                              Bob Hyde, ELCHC Board of Directors Secretary         Date

Page 14 of 14 


	Cover Page
	November 1, 2025
	CALL TO ORDER
	Roll Call

	PUBLIC COMMENT I
	WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS, AND ICEBREAKER-"THEN & NOW: EARLY LEARNING MEMORIES" 
	Annual Board of Directors Picture

	KEY CONCERNS
	Key Concern #1: 2026 Summit – Business Partnerships & Follow-Up
	Key Concern #2: 2026 Summit Monetary Ask – Helping Parents Cover the Cost of Full-Day VPK

	DISCUSSION
	Strategies and Action Items for 2026 Business Engagement and Advocacy Efforts

	ACTION ITEMS
	CEO Merit Increase
	Approval of Draft Board of Directors Meeting Minutes October 13, 2025

	CLOSING REFLECTIONS AND NEXT STEPS
	ADJOURNMENT

